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Nicole E. Lovelock, Esq. 
Nevada State Bar No. 11187 
Kimberley A. Hyson, Esq.  
Nevada State Bar No. 11611 
JONES LOVELOCK 
6600 Amelia Earhart Ct., Suite C 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Tel: (702) 805-8450 
Fax: (702) 805-8451 
nlovelock@joneslovelock.com 
khyson@joneslovelock.com 
    
Attorneys for Kamille Dean 
 

 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA 
 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION,  
 

Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
MATTHEW WADE BEASLEY, et al., 
 

Defendants. 
 
THE JUDD IRREVOCABLE TRUST, et al., 
 

Relief Defendants. 

  
CASE NO.:  2:22-cv-0612-CDS-EJY 
 
NON-PARTY KAMILLE DEAN’S 
REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO 
STRIKE OSC RE CONTEMPT AND 
TURN OVER ORDER (DKT 258) FOR 
JURISDICTIONAL DEFECTS 
 

 
Non-Party KAMILLE DEAN (Ms. Dean), by and through her attorneys of record, the law 

firm of JONES LOVELOCK, hereby submits this Reply in Support of her Motion to Strike OSC Re 

Contempt and Turn Over Order (Dkt. 258) (“Motion to Strike”).1  This Reply is based upon the 

attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the papers and pleadings on file in this matter, the 

attached exhibits, and any oral argument that the Court may allow. 

/ / / 

 
1 Along with Ms. Dean’s Motion to Motion to Quash Jurisdiction (Dkt. 257), Motion for Leave to File Interpleader (Dkt. 
259), and Objection to Affidavits of K. Hendricks and D. Zaro (Dkt. 260), these Motions and related Replies serve as a 
complete response to the Receiver’s Motion to Compel or Alternatively Motion for Order to Show Cause (Dkt. 210).    
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I. THE RECEIVER HAS NOT ESTABLISHED JURISDICTION. 

As discussed in further detail in Ms. Dean’s Reply in Support of Motion to Quash Jurisdiction 

(Dkt. 295) the Receiver has not met his burden of establishing jurisdiction over Ms. Dean or her 

retainer funds.2  In order to establish jurisdiction over receivership funds, the Receiver must file 

copies of the complaint and order of appointment “in the district court for each district in which 

property is located” within 10 days of appointment.3  “The failure to file such copies in any district 

shall divest the receiver of jurisdiction and control over all such property in that district.4  

The Receiver bears the burden of establishing personal jurisdiction over Ms. Dean and the 

funds at issue.5  The Receiver has not, and cannot, meet this burden.  Here, the Receiver was 

appointed on June 3, 2022.6  To establish jurisdiction over the funds at issue, the Receiver was 

required to file the Complaint and Order Appointing Receiver in Arizona no later than June 13, 

2022.  The Receiver admits that he failed to do so.  Therefore, the Receiver did not establish 

jurisdiction over Ms. Dean or the funds at issue at that time. 

The Receiver argues that the 10-day timeframe was reset upon filing of the Order Amending 

Receivership Order on July 28, 2022 (Dkt. 207), and notice was timely filed in Arizona on August 

5, 2022.  This position is erroneous.  An Order Amending Order Appointing Receiver does not reset 

the 10-day timeframe, only a reappointment does that.7  No such reappointment order exists in this 

case. 

 
2 See Reply in Support of Motion to Quash Jurisdiction (Dkt. 295).  The arguments set forth in Sections I.A-B are 
incorporated herein by reference. 
3 28 U.S.C. § 754. 
4 Id. (emphasis added). 
5 H.E.B., LLC v. Walker, 437 P.3d 1060 (Nev. 2019); Sinatra v. Nat’l Enquirer, Inc., 854 F.2d 1191, 1194 (9th Cir. 1988) 
citing Cubbage v. Merchent, 744 F.2d 665, 667 (9th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 470 U.S. 1005, 84 L. Ed. 2d 380, 105 S. Ct. 
1359 (1985).  “Once a defendant raises the defense, the burden falls on the plaintiff to prove sufficient facts to establish 
that jurisdiction is proper. Boschetto v. Hansing, 539 F.3d 1011, 1015 (9th Cir. 2008). 
6 Ord. Appointing Receiver (Dkt. 88). 
7 SEC v. Am. Cap. Invest., 98 F.3d 1133, 1143 (9th Cir. 1996), citing SEC v. Vision Communications, Inc., 315 U.S. App. 
D.C. 384, 74 F.3d 287, 291 (D.C. Cir. 1996). The distinction between an Order Amending Receivership, as was filed 
here, and a reappointment is critical, as reappointment – not amendment – resets the ten-day clock.  See Terry v. Walker, 
369 F. Supp. 2d 818, 820 (W.D. Va. 2005) (order reappointing receiver mandatory after SEC Receiver failure to comply 
with 28 U.S.C. section 754); Warfield v. Arpe, 2007 WL 549467, at *12 (N.D. Tex. Feb. 22, 2007) (SEC sought receiver 

(footnote continued) 
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Even if the Order Amending Receivership Order restarted the 10-day clock, the Receiver’s 

August 5, 2022 Arizona filing fails to comply with § 754.  Importantly, the Receiver filed the Motion 

to Compel or Alternative Motion for Order to Show Cause on August 1, 2022, prior to the August 5, 

2022 filing of the Complaint and Appointment Order in Arizona.8  Therefore, at the time of the 

Receiver’s filing, the Receiver had not complied with § 754 and did not have jurisdiction over Ms. 

Dean or the funds at issue herein.  Further, the Receiver did not file the Order Amending Receivership 

Order in Arizona, but rather the original June 3, 2022 Order Appointing Receiver.9  Again the 

Receiver failed to comply with § 754 and was divested of jurisdiction.  The Receiver has not 

established personal jurisdiction over Ms. Dean to haul her into this summary proceeding.10  Absent 

a showing of jurisdiction, the Receiver cannot establish the funds at issue belong to the receivership 

estate. 

II. THE RETAINER FUNDS ARE NOT RECEIVERSHIP ASSETS. 

A. The burden is on the Receiver to show ownership of the funds. 

The Receiver has the burden to establish the retainer is a receivership asset.11  In SEC v. 

 

reappointment following failure to comply with § 754); Federal Trade Comm'n v. Digital Altitude, LLC.,   2019 WL 
5290384 (C.D. Cal. May 31, 2019) (Motion to Reappoint Receiver following failure to comply with § 754); SEC v. 
Arisbank, Case No. 18 V 0186, Docket No. 21 (N.D. Tex. Apr 3, 2018)(Motion for Reappointment for failure to comply 
with § 754).  Moreover, the standards for reappointment differ from the standards for an Amendment.  28 U.S.C. § 3103; 
Fed. R. Civ. P. 66, Canada Life Assur. Co. v. LaPeter, 563 F.3d 837, 844 (9th Cir. 2009) (setting for specific requirements 
for appointment);  
8 See Mot. to Compel or Alt. Mot. for Order to Show Cause (Dkt. 210). 
9 Ex. A, Arizona filing of Complaint and Appointment Order. 
10 See Reply in Support of Motion to Quash Jurisdiction (Dkt. 295), Section I.B. “There is a substantial body of law to 
the effect that a receivership court does not have jurisdiction to bring into a pending receivership proceeding by a mere 
order to show cause persons who are not parties to the receivership and who assert an independent claim of ownership to 
assets in their possession.  In Gillespie v. California Standard Ind. Co., 212 Cal. App. 3d 1351, 1357–58 (1989) (internal 
citations omitted).  The Receiver relies on Chicago Title & Trust Co. v. Fox Theatres Corp., 69 F.2d 60, 61 (2d Cir. 
1934), for the preposition that a federal court presiding over a fiduciary estate enjoys exclusive jurisdiction over the estate 
and “[t]he appointment of an equity receiver . . . draws to the appointing court jurisdiction to decide all questions of the 
preservation, collection, and distribution of its assets.”  This reliance is misplaced.  First, it is axiomatic that the Receiver 
cannot have exclusive jurisdiction over something for which he has not established any jurisdiction.  Further, Chicago 
Title establishes that a receivership does not have complete authority over all assets, or collection or distribution of the 
same.  
11 SEC v. Ross, 504 F.3d 1130, 1146 (9th Cir. 2007); also Maggio v. Zeitz, 333 U.S. 56, 63-64, 92 L. Ed. 476, 68 S. Ct. 
401 (1948); Evans v. Robbins, 897 F.2d 966, 968 (8th Cir. 1990), citing Gorenz v. Illinois Dept. of Agriculture, 653 F.2d 
1179, 1184 (7th Cir. 1981) (emphasis added)(holding “[t]he burden of proof in a turnover proceeding is at all times on 
the receiver or trustee; he must at least establish a prima facie case. After that, the burden of explaining or going 

(footnote continued) 
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Torchia, the Court found: 

As the movant, the receiver had the burden to show that the 
receivership was entitled to the requested relief.  See, e.g., Evans v. 
Robbins, 897 F.2d 966, 968 (8th Cir. 1990). Cf. Donell v. Kowell, 533 
F.3d 762, 771 (9th Cir. 2008) (discussing a receiver's burden in 
recovering false profits); In re Bernard L. Madoff Inv. Sec. LLC, 454 
B.R. 317, 331, 334–35 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2011) (same). Throughout the 
process, however, the receiver did not submit any evidence to the district 
court justifying his determination that the Sutherlands were obligated to 
remit fictitious profits or supporting his calculations of the fictitious 
profits. Cf. Wiand, 753 F.3d at 1199, 1204 (affirming summary 
judgment order that allowed the receiver to recover “false profits” where 
the receiver alleged that the Ponzi scheme paid out investors in excess 
of their original investment and provided evidence of specific 
transactions).12 

The Receiver has not met this burden.  Instead of providing evidence regarding the ownership 

of the Retainer funds, the Receiver summarily concludes that Judd owned and provided the funds for 

 

forward shifts to the other party, but the ultimate burden or risk of persuasion is upon the receiver or trustee.”); 65 
Am. Jur. 2d Receivers § 249 (2022) (“As in any other action, in an action by a receiver, the receiver bears the burden of 
proof of entitlement to the relief requested.”). 

  The Receiver argues that Ms. Dean has the burden of establishing ownership of the funds and that they were not 
tainted, but provides no statute, case law or other legal support for this position. See Receiver’s Omnibus Response, 
16:15-19, 23-24, 17:5-7.  At most, the Receiver attempts to distinguish the Gorenz case cited by Ms. Dean, but with little 
success, and cites to several inapplicable cases.  Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt. 275), at 17:8-28.  FTC v. Digital 
Altitude, LLC, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 224949 (C. D. Cal. July 26, 2018) involved defendants seeking to unfreeze funds 
for living expenses.  Here, Ms. Dean was not subject to the freeze order and is not asking to unfreeze anything.  Rather, 
she is asking to retain those funds that were earned prior to appointment of the receiver, and her notice of the same.  SEC 
v. Rosenthal, 42 Fed. App’x 1 (2d Cir. 2011) applies solely to cases involving insider trading, not Ponzi schemes like the 
instant case.  This case also discussed the disgorgement by defendants and relief defendants.  Ms. Dean is neither.  Cases 
cited in the Receiver’s Motion to Compel or Alternative Motion for OSC regarding the burden of proof are similarly 
inapplicable.  (Dkt. 210), at 8:16-9:3, 10:8-17.  SEC uses Santillo for the proposition that Ms. Dean has the burden to 
“establish that the funds [s]he seeks to [retain] are untainted and that there are sufficient funds to satisfy any disgorgement 
remedy that might be ordered in the event a violation is established.” SEC v. Santillo, No. 18-CV-5491 (JGK), 2018 WL 
3392881, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. July 11, 2018).  But Santillo sets forth the standard for a defendant to request assets be 
unfrozen for living expenses, attorney’s fees etc.  SEC v. Fujinaga, 2020 WL 3050713 at *3 (D. Nev. June 8, 2020) also 
deals with a defendant’s request to unfreeze assets to pay attorney’s fees after transferring $100,000 to an attorney 
following an asset freeze and appointment of a receiver. Again, Ms. Dean is not the Defendant, and she is not seeking to 
unfreeze assets.  Rather, it is Ms. Dean’s position that the earned portion of her retainer is not a receivership asset.  Her 
fees were also earned for past services prior to the appointment of the Receiver – not future services such as in Santillo. 
SEC v. Marino also deals with a defendant who transferred $100,000 to an attorney after an asset freeze and requested 
the court unfreeze assets to be used in his defense.  29 Fed. Appx. 538, 541 (10th Cir. 2002) (quoting SEC v. Quinn, 997 
F.2d 287, 289 (7th Cir. 1993).  Quinn, the case cited in Marino, supports Ms. Dean’s position that the burden of proof 
rests with the receiver.  In Quinn, the court requested that the SEC make a preliminary showing that Quinn’s assets 
could be traced to fraud.  Satisfied with the response, the court than invited the defendant to demonstrate that he had 
fund that were not tainted.  Quinn failed to do so. 
12 922 F.3d 1307, 1312–13 (11th Cir. 2019) (emphasis added). 
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Ms. Dean’s retainer.13  To the extent the declarations submitted with the Receiver’s Omnibus 

Response address the source of the retainer funds, the Receiver admits “the declarations submitted 

were not offered to prove where the funds came from.”14  The Receiver has not set forth any other 

evidence establishing the retainer funds belonged to Jeffrey Judd, or any other basis for his position these 

funds belong to the receivership estate.15 

In her Declaration, Ms. Dean provided sworn testimony that the retainer funds belong to all 

six (6) of her clients, with five (5) clients demanding she not turn over any property to the Receiver, 

while the Receiver has engaged in baseless, unsworn arguments from attorneys alleging the funds 

belonged to Judd.16   

In Maggio v. Zeitz, 333 U.S. 56, 64, 68 S. Ct. 401, 405, 92 L. Ed. 476 (1948), the Court held: 

It is evident that the real issue as to turnover orders concerns the burden 
of proof that will be put on the trustee and how he can meet it. This Court 
has said that the turnover order must be supported by ‘clear and 
convincing evidence,’ Oriel v. Russell, 278 U.S. 358, 49 S.Ct. 173, 174, 
73 L.Ed. 419, and that includes proof that the property has been 
abstracted from the bankrupt estate and is in the possession of the party 
proceeded against. It is the burden of the trustee to produce this evidence, 
however difficult his task may be. 

In In re Lawrence, 251 B.R. 630, 640 (S.D. Fla. 2000), aff'd, 279 F.3d 1294 (11th Cir. 2002), 

the Court stated: 

The burden of proof in a turnover proceeding is at all times on the 
receiver or trustee; he must at least establish a prima facie case. After 
that, the burden of explaining or going forward shifts to the other party, 
but the ultimate burden or risk of persuasion is upon the receiver or 
trustee.” Id. (quoting Gorenz v. Illinois Dept. of Agriculture, 653 F.2d 
1179, 1184 (7th Cir.1981) (further cites omitted)). Although the amount 
of evidence necessary to satisfy the trustee's burden will vary on a case 
by case basis, the trustee must prove its case by clear and convincing 
evidence. Evans, 897 F.2d at 968. 

 
13 See Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt. 275), at 5: 23-25 (“some attorneys received funds from Judd and then 
transferred portions of the same to other law firms, as was the case with Ms. Dean”) Ex. 1, at ¶ 4; Ex. 2, at ¶ 4. 
14 Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt. 275), at 23:2-3. 
15 68 C.J.S. Partnership § 499 (2022) (“Accordingly, the receiver may institute actions to collect what is due the 
partnership and otherwise to enforce and protect its rights. The burden of proof in such an action lies with the receiver as 
the plaintiff.”).    
16 Mot. to Quash (Dkt. 257), at Dean Decl., ¶¶ 8, 12; Mischler v. Novagraaf Grp. BV, 2019 WL 11322511, at *1 (D.D.C. 
Oct. 30, 2019) (“Here, notwithstanding that clear precedent, Defendants have provided nothing in the way of evidence 
to support their arguments . . . Instead, they rely on the unsworn arguments of counsel. That is not adequate to sustain 
their burden.”). 
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Here, the Receiver claims the retainer funds are part of the receivership estate without one 

scrap of supporting evidence or supporting precedent.17  The idea that the Receiver can simply claim 

a non-party’s property belongs to the receivership estate with no evidence is outrageous.  Further, 

even if Ms. Dean has the burden, the Receiver has produced no evidence to establish the source of 

funds, and therefore has failed to rebut Ms. Dean’s position.  The Receiver’s attempts to take the 

property of another without proof is both extreme and draconian.  The Receiver has provided no 

evidence to support his position that the retainer came from Judd.  Ms. Dean’s Motion to Strike should 

be granted. 

B. The Isaacson Letter is hearsay and never identifies the source of the funds. 

As this Court is aware, Michael Lee Peters, Esq. wired the retainer funds to Ms. Dean’s trust 

account.  The Receiver argues that a letter provided by Mr. Peters’ attorney, Janeen Isaacson, Esq., 

identifies the source of the retainer funds: 

“Indeed, through correspondence with Janeen Isaacson, Esq. on behalf 
of Attorney Michael Lee Peters, the Receiver learned that Mr. Peters 
received two wire transfers on October 15, 2021 totaling $2,000,000 for 
legal services requested by Judd and that Mr. Peters wired $250,000 to 
Ms. Dean as a retainer for attorney services she would be purportedly 
providing.”18 
 

Notably, Ms. Isaacson does not identify the source of the retainer funds, but rather states that 

Ms. Peters was provided with $2,000,000 for “legal services requested by Judd.”  This does not 

identify the source of the money, owner of the money or any other support for the Receiver’s claim 

these are receivership assets.19  

 
17 Fletcher Cyclopedia of the Law of Corporations §7853.20 (2022) (“The receiver has the burden of proof to sustain his 
or her claim in an action to recover assets.”).   
18 Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt. 275), at 5:25-6:4 (emphasis added). 
19 Progressive Cas. Ins. Co. v. F.D.I.C., 80 F. Supp. 3d 923, 934 (N.D. Iowa 2015) (internal citations omitted) 
(“[s]tatements in an affidavit based on what the affiant ‘learned’ or ‘heard’ about a decision, or a decision-making process 
are hearsay and do not satisfy the ‘personal knowledge’ requirement.”).  Certainly, Ms. Isaacson’s letter, which was not 
made under the penalty of perjury and does not identify the source via personal knowledge, cannot be the basis to establish 
the source of the funds. Canada v. Blain's Helicopters, Inc., 831 F.2d 920, 925 (9th Cir. 1987) (unauthenticated 
documents cannot be considered in the absence of testimony establishing authenticity).   
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III. THE RECEIVER IGNORES THAT MS. DEAN IS A BONA FIDE PURCHASER FOR 

VALUE. 

A. Ms. Dean incurred $201,060 in fees in good faith prior to June 4, 2022. 

The Receiver ignores that Ms. Dean is a Bona Fide Purchaser and Seller for value without 

notice prior to June 4, 2022, when she learned of the Receiver’s appointment.  Ms. Dean incurred 

$201,060 in attorney’s fees as an innocent Bona Fide Purchaser and Seller for Value before June 4, 

2020, and Ms. Dean incurred her fees in good faith prior to her ever knowing about the Receiver’s 

Order.20  Ms. Dean has a right to demonstrate her BFP status, and she cannot do so in a summary 

proceeding.   

The SEC demanded emergency compliance with its subpoenas served on Ms. Dean’s clients, 

and the SEC engaged in gamesmanship of concealing that Ms. Dean had to comply with the 

subpoenas when the SEC knew there would be a Receivership proceeding which would claim Ms. 

Dean could not be paid for the work the SEC demanded she perform.  The Receiver does not address 

Ms. Dean’s status as a BPF and fails to address the unfairness of taking money from her which she 

earned without any notice or knowledge of taint, illegality, or the existence of the Receiver. 

Whether this matter is considered under Arizona law or Nevada law, Ms. Dean’s BFP status 

cuts off the Receiver’s claims.  The Receiver’s attempt to use summary proceedings which preclude 

Ms. Dean’s affirmative defense of Bona Fide Purchaser and Seller for Value Without Notice is a 

violation of due process.21 

B. Nevada Law Provides that Ms. Dean is a BFP. 

Ms. Dean practices exclusively in Arizona.  However, Nevada law also recognizes a BPF and 

that it cuts off the prior owner’s claims.  Ms. Dean is a BFP under both Arizona and Nevada law.  A 

subsequent purchaser is bona fide under common-law principles if it takes the property “for a 

 
20 Hunnicutt Const., Inc. v. Stewart Title & Tr. of Tucson Tr. No. 3496, 187 Ariz. 301, 307, 928 P.2d 725, 731 (Ct. App. 
1996) (a bona fide purchaser and holder for value in good faith and without notice cuts off the rights of a prior owner or 
defrauded party).   
21 Indep. Coal & Coke Co. v. United States, 274 U.S. 640, 650 (1927) (“Bona fide purchase is an affirmative defense. 
Wright-Blodgett Co. v. United States, 236 U. S. 397, 403, 35 S. Ct. 339, 59 L. Ed. 637.”). 
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valuable consideration and without notice of the prior equity, and without notice of facts which upon 

diligent inquiry would be indicated and from which notice would be imputed to him, if he failed to 

make such inquiry.”22  A BFP is a person who purchases real property for a valuable consideration 

and without notice of the prior equity, and without notice of facts which would put the purchaser on 

notice because a bona fide purchaser of a legal title is not affected by any latent equity founded either 

on a trust, encumbrance, or otherwise, of which he has no notice.23 

The billing attached produced as part of Ms. Dean’s Motion to Quash establishes that she 

gave full value for the $201,060 she earned before June 4, 2022.  She gave actual value which 

demonstrates her reliance in good faith on her being paid without notice or knowledge the funds in 

her possession were tainted or had some other claimant.24  Ms. Dean was a BFP who held the property 

in good faith, gave full value to earn the property, and had no notice prior to June 4, 2022, that the 

property had any other claimant. 

C. The Receiver Failed to Establish Ms. Dean Knew Any Funds Were Tainted. 

Ms. Dean has testified she believed in good faith and relied upon her clients and other 

attorneys that the retainer funds were untainted with any illegality and came from her six (6) clients.25  

It is the Receiver’s burden to establish both the source of the retainer funds and that Ms. Dean not 

only had knowledge of that source, but also knowledge of the funds being tainted.26  The Receiver 

cannot shift this burden onto Ms. Dean to disprove the Receivers’ claims because the Receiver does 

not have a scrap of evidence to support his claims regarding the source of the retainer funds.  Ms. 

Dean had no knowledge that any of the funds were tainted which makes her a Bona Fide Purchaser 

 
22 Bailey v. Butner, 64 Nev. 1, 19, 176 P.2d 226, 234 (1947) (emphasis omitted); see also Moore v. De Bernardi, 47 Nev. 
33, 54, 220 P. 544, 547 (1923) (“The decisions are uniform that the bona fide purchaser of a legal title is not affected by 
any latent equity founded either on a trust, [e]ncumbrance, or otherwise, of which he has no notice, actual or 
constructive.”). 
23 Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC, 2017 WL 1100955, at *9 (D. Nev. Mar. 22, 2017) 
24 Fair v. Howard, 6 Nev. 304, 308 (1871) (“The question is not whether the consideration is adequate, but whether it is 
valuable.”).   
25 Mot. to Quash (Dkt. 257), at Dean Decl., ¶¶ 8, 12. 
26 68 C.J.S. Partnership § 499 (2022) (“Accordingly, the receiver may institute actions to collect what is due the 
partnership and otherwise to enforce and protect its rights. The burden of proof in such an action lies with the receiver as 
the plaintiff.”). 

Case 2:22-cv-00612-CDS-EJY   Document 296   Filed 09/08/22   Page 8 of 11



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

9 

JO
N

E
S 

L
O

V
EL

O
C

K
 

66
00

 A
m

el
ia

 E
ar

ha
rt 

Ct
., 

Su
ite

 C
 

La
s V

eg
as

, N
V

 8
91

19
 

 
and Holder of the funds for value and without notice. 

IV. The Court Should Not Award the Receiver Attorney’s Fees and Costs Related to the 
instant motions. 

 

Contrary to the Receiver’s argument, Ms. Dean’s countermotions are not the result of 

gamesmanship.  Ms. Dean has a right to be heard on this matter, and a right to seek to retain the funds 

at issue.  Ms. Dean was retained and provided representation to the Judds in good faith and without 

knowledge any funds provided to her may have been tainted.  In doing so, she incurred over $200,000 

in attorney’s fees, for which she deserves to be paid.  Notably, these fees were incurred in responding 

to SEC subpoenas.  As such, the SEC was aware that following this work, suit would be filed and a 

Receiver would be appointed, who would challenge those fees earned by Ms. Dean. 

While Ms. Dean did not file the Receiver’s preferred Motion, that does not mean Ms. Dean 

lacked any basis for her filings so as to warrant an award of fees and costs.  Rather, Ms. Dean has a 

strong basis to quash jurisdiction and seek a plenary proceeding in Arizona, respond to the Motion 

to Compel or Alternatively Motion for OCS, and object to the attorney declaration submitted by the 

Receiver, as discussed in further detail in these motions and related replies.  At no time did the 

Receiver attempt to “resolve” this matter with Ms. Dean.  Rather, as indicated by correspondence 

produced by the Receiver, the Receiver repeatedly demanded turnover of the entirety of the $250,000 

retainer without any negotiation.  Attorney’s fees and costs are not warranted here, and the Receiver’s 

request for the same should be denied. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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V. CONCLUSION. 

For the foregoing reasons, Non-Party KAMILLE DEAN requests that this Honorable Court 

grant her Motion to Strike OSC Re Contempt and Turn Over Order (Dkt. 258), and the Receiver’s 

Motion to Compel or Alternative Motion for OSC (Dkt. 210) be denied.  Ms. Dean also requests that 

this Honorable Court deny the Receiver’s request for attorney’s fees and costs. 

 
DATED this 8th day of September 2022. 

          JONES LOVELOCK 

 By: /s/ Kimberley A. Hyson, Esq. 
  Nicole Lovelock, Esq. (11187) 

Kimberley A. Hyson, Esq. (11611) 
6600 Amelia Earhart Ct., Suite C 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Tel: (702) 805-8450 
Fax: (702) 805-8451 
    
Attorneys for Kamille Dean 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that on the 8th day of September 2022, a true and correct 

copy of the foregoing NON-PARTY KAMILLE DEAN’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION 

TO STRIKE OSC RE CONTEMPT AND TURN OVER ORDER (DKT 258) FOR 

JURISDICTIONAL DEFECTS was served by electronically submitting with the Clerk of the Court 

using the electronic system and serving all parties with an email-address on record. 

 

 By /s/ Julie Linton 
 An Employee of JONES LOVELOCK 
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